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n the mid-twentieth century, the village of

Mandapeshwar, like many small settlements scat-

tered across Shashti Island north of Mumbai, expe-
rienced dramatic urban transformation as what had
been a green rural setting gave way to an eclectic mix-
ture of high-rise buildings, garden houses, and informal
dwellings.! However, a group of historic structures and
sites survived in the midst of this modern development,
including a Shaivite rock-cut cave temple, a church, the
ruins of an adjoining college, and a separate chapel. As the
British Egyptologist Henry Salt observed during his visit
to Mandapeshwar in 1805, all of these sites are intimately
connected with each other:

There is no spot in the world where the Catholic and
Heathen imagery come so closely in contact as here—where
a Portuguese monastery has a temple of the Hindoos for its
foundation, and where the exploits of their God of Terror
are sculptured on one side, and the form of a meek Christian
saint painted on the other.?

"Today, as one approaches the Shaivite cave temple from
its ample forecourt, one sees a group of ruined structures
rising incongruously above the cave entrance: thick walls
covered with lime plaster, weathered by the monsoon rains
to expose their fabric of rubble stones, with occasional bricks
fitted around door and window jambs (Figure 1). While
the walls are of fairly recent construction, built as part of a
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“royal college” by Franciscan missionaries during the late
sixteenth and early seventeenth centuries, the impressive
sculpted program ornamenting the cave interior dates back
to the eighth century CE. Reflecting the devotions of the
Shaivite dharma, or religious tradition, these sculptures are
dedicated mainly to Shiva in the form of the divine cosmic
dancer Nataraj (Figure 2).* Although twice consecrated as
a Christian church, first in the sixteenth century and again
in the nineteenth century, the cave has since been restored
to its ancient faith.

"To the south of the cave temple stands the church of Our
Lady of the Immaculate Conception, one of the important
religious centers for today’s East Indian Catholic commu-
nity (Figure 3).* A ruined cloister adjoining the church at
its northern flank occasionally serves as a primary school,
with plastic tarpaulins strung between the walls to shade
the students.

About 150 meters farther to the south, a small circu-
lar structure crowns the summit of a conspicuous hillock
(Figure 4). Evidently a small chapel or a hermitage, painted
with layers of whitewash, this structure must have been an
impressive landmark in the surrounding landscape for cen-
turies, before it was eclipsed by recent high-rises.” As visitors
approach the hermitage along a winding path, they spiral
around a cylindrical structure built of rough masonry with
seven small round chambers hollowed into its surface. Today
all of the chambers are empty, their inner walls covered with
moss. Although most scholars have overlooked this distinc-
tive structure, Paulo Varela Gomes (1952-2016) argued that
it formed part of an early modern Sacro Monte, a series of
chapels presenting scenes from Christian scripture.®

This study builds on Gomes’s work, exploring the
Sacro Monte in Mumbai as shaped not only by the
late medieval values of the Piedosos, the Portuguese



branch of the reformed Franciscans who founded the

Franciscan mission in Mandapeshwar, but also by the
existing Hindu rock-cut cave temples of Shashti Island.
In addition, I point out the significance of the Marian
program of the Sacro Monte in relation to the com-
munity of Indian Christian converts, primarily women
and children, who lived around it. Drawing upon docu-
mentary evidence, I argue that the Franciscan friars, like
other sixteenth-century educated Portuguese visitors,
identified “Western,” “classical,” or “Hellenistic” quali-
ties in many ruined Hindu or Buddhist sites that they
encountered across South Asia, and that this (mis)per-
ception played a fundamental role in stimulating their
interest in these historic sites. Following upon the work
of scholars who have addressed the cultural nuances of
early modern missionary enterprise within the frame-
work of the Portuguese Empire, this study asks how
sixteenth-century Portuguese missionaries reconciled
their admiration for these sites with their religious zeal.’”

Figure 1 Shaivite cave temple, eighth cen-
tury CE, and ruins of a Franciscan college,
Mandapeshwar, Mumbai, ca. 1560-1623, view
of eastern end (photo by Alice Faria).

Figure 2 Shaivite cave temple, eighth century

CE, reconsecrated as the church of Our Lady of
Sorrows, Mandapeshwar, Mumbai, reconsecra-
tion work 1548-55, view of southwestern area,
toward sculpted panel of Shiva (author’s photo).

Can we understand the Sacro Monte’s design as a form
of cultural compromise between Counter-Reformation
missionary efforts on the one hand and the Hindu tradi-
tions of Shashti Island on the other?

The Northern Province

Following two decades of war between the Portuguese and
the Gujarat sultanate, the Portuguese occupied Shashti
Island in 1534, including the southern peninsula now
occupied by Mumbai City. Wrested from the Gujarat sul-
tanate through an imposed peace treaty, the island became
a subdivision of a larger territory of about 4,500 square
kilometers under Portuguese rule, known as the Provincia
do Norte (Northern Province) of the Estado da India. The
Portuguese established Bagaim, or Fort Vasai, as the head-
quarters of the province (Figure 5).> Under Portuguese
rule, Shashti Island, with its 115 villages, became a highly
productive agricultural region, and Mandapeshwar, in the
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Figure 3 Church of Our Lady of the Immaculate Conception,
Mandapeshwar, Mumbai, ca. 1574-85, rebuilt 1888, view of west end
(photo by Gritli von Mitterwallner, 1960; © AlK-Archiv, Schenkung Gritli
von Mitterwallner, Bildarchiv, Accession CI.10.2.5.2; courtesy of the
AlK-Archiv).

northwestern quadrant of the island, soon became the cen-
ter of Franciscan missionary activity.”

The earliest Portuguese documents referring to
Mandapeshwar include letters from Catholic mission-
aries, among them the Franciscan Anténio do Porto
(fl. 1540-70), who is credited with founding the first church
on the island.!” Writing to King Jodo III in 1548, do Porto
reported that he had created a “handsome and devout”
chapel in Mandapeshwar for the celebration of Mass “every
Sunday and every holy day.”!! In 1551, when the Jesuit
Gaspar Berze (1515-53) visited the village, he reported
that Friar do Porto had “made a church in a temple” that
was “cut open in a rock.”"? The church, dedicated to Nossa
Senhora da Piedade (Our Lady of Sorrows, or Our Lady of
Piety), with its facade built across the mouth of the cave,
appears to have been completed around 1555.1

Shortly after the reconsecration of the cave temple,
the Franciscans also took possession of the village of
Mandapeshwar and its associated revenues as a semifeu-
dal property lease.* By the late 1550s, do Porto resided
in the village, probably overseeing the construction of an
orphanage and residency above the cave.!* Designated the
Royal College of Mandapeshwar in the 1550s, the new
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Figure 4 Sacro Monte, Mandapeshwar, Mumbai, ca. 1590-1630, view

of western area (author's photo).

institution focused on the education of young converts.'
In addition to revenues from Mandapeshwar, the college
benefited from income collected from two other villages,
Pare and Arengal.!’

During the last quarter of the sixteenth century, when
the Franciscans built a new church dedicated to Our Lady
of the Immaculate Conception on the southern side of the
college, the older cave church was demoted to the status

1.18 According to the evidence of an inscription,

of a chape
the college was partially rebuilt and enlarged in 1623."
Damage caused by a tropical cyclone in 1618 probably
necessitated this work.*

With a cloister and two smaller courtyards at its
northern side, the college represented one of the larger
structures built by the Franciscans in the Estado da India
(Figure 6). Its design as well as that of the adjoining church
reflected the austere and almost minimalist forms charac-
teristic of sixteenth-century Franciscan ecclesiastical archi-
tecture in the Northern Province (Figure 7; see Figure 3).
With its steep-pitched roof, whitewashed walls, and bell
tower rising above the chancel, the church was notable for
its lofty scale.”! Fragmentary references attest to the eco-
nomic importance of the college during the seventeenth
century.?? Its revenues contributed significantly toward the



Rk o

® WANAPACER
MANDAPES AT

Figure 5 Map of the Northern Province of the Estado da india,
1534-1739, with the southernmost subdivisions roughly correspond-
ing to the area of greater Mumbai region (created by author).

Figure 6 Franciscan college and Sacro Monte, Mandapeshwar,

Mumbai, ca. 1560-1630, reconstructed plan over satellite imagery
(Google Earth image, 2020; graphic additions by author).

upkeep of the motherhouse of the Observant Franciscans
in Old Goa and helped to finance the grandiose recon-
struction of their church in the 1680s.2* The college occa-
sionally hosted viceroys and other prominent visitors.>*
During the raid by the Omani sultanate on Shashti in
1700, Mandapeshwar served as the rallying point for a
Portuguese-led counterattack.”

By the mid-seventeenth century, the Christian popu-
lation of Mandapeshwar numbered about 730, living in a
“good settlement” on a knoll “opposite the college.””® The
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Figure 7 Church of Our Lady of the Immaculate Conception and Franciscan college, Mandapeshwar, Mumbai, ca. 1560-1630, west elevation,

sketch by Charles Masson, 1850 (Charles Masson, “The Cave Temples of Salsette and Elephanta with Notes and lllustrations,” 1850, fol. 18,
Mss Eur G43, Asia, Pacific and Africa Collections, British Library, London; © British Library Board).

Franciscans built the Sacro Monte at the center of this set-
tlement, at the top of the hill.

In 1737, the Maratha Empire, centered in the west-
ern Deccan plateau, launched new efforts to conquer the
Northern Province and swiftly defeated the Portuguese
forces on Shashti Island.”” After the Portuguese mis-
sionaries fled Mandapeshwar, the Franciscan church and
its college were looted and abandoned. With the institu-
tion of the new Maratha administration, the cave church
probably returned to the religious functions that predated
Portuguese occupation.’® A handful of accounts survive that
describe the ruined site during this period, including one
by the French Orientalist Abraham Anquetil-Duperron
(1731-95) and one by the Polish botanist Anton Hové
(d. ca. 1829).%°

By 1774, when the British East India Company
took possession of Shashti, the Christian community of
Mandapeshwar had dwindled, leaving ruins of churches
and other structures across the island.*” The antiquities of
Shashti Island attracted the curiosity of artists such as James
Wales (1747-95) and Thomas Daniell (1749-1840), who
toured the island in the 1790s.’! Wales died in Mumbai
after returning from one of those trips, lamented by his tour
companion, Captain Millet, as “a Victim of the putrid Air
we inhaled at the Caves [of Kanheri] in an unhealthy sea-
son of the year.” In the same manuscript, Millet described
the rock-cut cave temple in Mandapeshwar: “The Figures
painted by the Portuguese from the New Testament . . .
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intermixed with the laborious and wonderful works of the
Hindoos, very naturally leads the Mind into such a vortex
of contemplation that it struggles with difficulty to swim
out of the edges.”*’

Others British travelers, such as the aristocrat George
Annesley, Viscount Valentia (1770-1844), and his secretary
Henry Salt (1780-1827), as well as John Vaupell (1795-
1852), who visited Mandapeshwar during the first half of
the nineteenth century, attributed the ruined church and
college to the Jesuit missionaries.** According to Viscount
Valentia, Mandapeshwar revealed “the work of the intel-
ligent followers of Ignatius Loyola” rather than that of
“the lazy monks of St. Francis.”** Charles Masson (1800—
1853) provided sketches and descriptions of the site and
transcribed the 1623 inscription placed over the college
entrance (Figure 7).>> While Vaupell hypothesized that
the Sacro Monte originally functioned as a watchtower,
“with several chambers in its circumference, for sol-
diers,” Viscount Valentia and Masson judged it to be an
“observatory.”*®

Watercolors and sketches produced by artists such as
Masson, Wales, William Miller, and Robert Pouget also
attest to ongoing artistic interest in the island.*” During
this period, Kanheri and Mandapeshwar became popular
local destinations for British visitors traveling into the sur-
roundings beyond Mumbai City. Contemporary European
guidebooks encouraged visitors to tour the caves, but also
to experience the “most picturesque views of the ruins of



Portuguese churches, convents, villas &c . . . obtained from

various beautiful spots on this charming island.”*®

These visitors tended to be more impressed by the
scenic beauty of the settings than by the architecture of
the churches themselves. Nineteenth-century British
(or British-influenced) authors assessed the churches as
“neither handsome nor imposing,” as “quaintly unor-
namented,” and of “ordinary” or “mean architecture.”’
Writing in the 1860s, Dinshaw Wacha (1844-1936), a
founding member of the Indian National Congress, judged
the “Roman Catholic Churches” of Shashti and Mumbai
Islands as having “no importance from the architectural
point of view,” and observed “generally a sameness about
them peculiar to early Portuguese churches.”*” These
comments highlight the common architectural typologies
that characterized most of the churches in the Northern
Province erected by Franciscan or Jesuit builders, which
remained essentially unchanged through the nineteenth
century. Unlike the baroque-inspired reconstructions or
face-lifts that transformed many early modern churches of
Goa during the eighteenth century, most of the churches
in the nonurban areas of the Northern Province retained
the original pragmatic and functionalist forms characteris-
tic of what George Kubler later termed “Portuguese plain
architecture.”*!

By the late 1850s, the small Catholic community of
Mandapeshwar still celebrated the occasional Mass in the
old rock-cut cave temple, having refurbished the chancel
area (Figure 8).% During the 1880s, the ruined Immaculate
Conception church, the solid walls of which must have been
in fairly good shape, was rebuilt and provided with a new
roof and windows.® Yet the rest of the Franciscan college
and the Sacro Monte remained in ruins.

In the early twentieth century, a new wave of Franciscan
missionaries of mostly German origin reoccupied the area
surrounding the Sacro Monte.* These missionaries first

Figure 8 Shaivite cave temple, eighth century
CE, reconsecrated as the church of Our Lady of
Sorrows, Mandapeshwar, Mumbai, reconsecra-
tion work 1548-55, view of southwestern area,
toward the Christian altar (photo by Gritli von
Mitterwallner, 1960; © AIK-Archiv, Schenkung
Gritli von Mitterwallner, Bildarchiv, Accession
IVO.3.13.1.6; courtesy of the AIK-Archiv).

created an orphanage and later added a school. Known as
the I. C. Colony (for the nearby church’s original invoca-
tion of the Immaculate Conception), this complex, along
with the church, continued to cater to the local East Indian
Catholic community. Finally, in the late 1960s, Hindu reli-
gious activists effaced almost all traces of the Christian
layer from the cave church, dismantling the votive cross
near its entrance and reestablishing it as a place of Shaivite
worship.*

Despite these various recent interventions and transfor-
mations, the structures at Mandapeshwar remain of crit-
ical historical importance. The Archaeological Survey of
India has acknowledged this fact, classifying parts of the
site as a national monument.* To understand the cultural
significance of this multilayered environment, however,
we must first consider the history of the Piedosos, the
reformed Franciscan branch whose missionaries settled in
Mandapeshwar in the sixteenth century.

The Missionary Agenda of the Piedosos

When the Franciscan Anténio do Porto arrived in Goa in
1546, the religious climate of the Estado da India was grow-
ing increasingly intolerant. The same fleet that brought do
Porto to India also delivered letters from the Portuguese
king that instructed the bishop of Goa to demolish all
“pagan” temples, both completed buildings and those still
under construction.”’ This religious and cultural hostility,
fueled by the crusading spirit of the Counter-Reformation,
promoted a new missionary zeal in the various spheres of
Portuguese administration and society in the Estado da
India.*®

Both do Porto and Juan de Albuquerque, bishop of Goa
(in office 1539-53), exemplified this missionary spirit. Both
hailed from a reformed branch of the Franciscan order
founded in 1496 by Juan de Guadalupe in the Spanish
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Extremadura. Members of this branch founded the con-
ventual house of Nossa Senhora da Piedade near Vila Vigosa
after arriving in Portugal in 1500.% In Portugal they became
known as Piedosos.”® Another reformed branch associated
with Martin de Santa Maria Benavides (ca. 1480-1550)
established the convent of Nossa Senhora da Arrdbida near
Setdbal in 1539, and took the name Arrabidos. Although
each of these Portuguese reformed Franciscan branches
maintained its own religious statutes and provinces, collec-
tively they became known as Capuchos.’!

In Spain, the Guadalupense movement culminated
after many decades of Franciscan reform efforts that antic-
ipated the Council of Trent and combined reinvigorated
Franciscan poverty with “Joachimistic eschatology.”*?
Marian devotion represented a key common feature of this
Franciscan reform movement. Imbued with these ideals,
the Guadalupenses in Spain and the Piedosos in Portugal
aspired to become the missionary arm of the Franciscan
order and thereby initiate a new age of global Christian
expansion.’?

The Piedosos decided to launch a bold Christianization
policy in Sri Lanka (Ceylon) and the Northern Province,
the two largest and most promising territories controlled
by the Estado da India.”* In the 1540s, two groups of
Piedosos set out from Portugal for these regions.”® One
of the groups, consisting of six missionaries and led by
Friar do Porto, disembarked in Goa in September 1546.
However, four of the missionaries died or fled soon after
their arrival, leaving only their leader with one compan-
ion.”® Determined to persevere, the two Franciscans built a
primitive residence at Fort Vasai and began their missionary
work aimed at the conversion of the locals, including the
inhabitants of Shashti Island.”’

According to the most conservative accounts, Friar do
Porto founded eleven churches in the Northern Province.’®
Although do Porto did not identify the names of these
churches, a 1585 list enables us to identify them (Figure 9).>°
Some of do Porto’s letters from the 1550s survive, signed
from Mandapeshwar, but not much else is known about his
missionary activities in the Northern Province.

While both do Porto and Bishop Juan de Albuquerque
lobbied for the creation of a separate jurisdiction—a
custédia, or custody—for the Piedosos in the Estado da
India, the Observant Franciscans in Goa thwarted this ini-
tiative. As a consequence, the churches do Porto founded in
the Northern Province fell to the Custody of St. Thomas,
under the jurisdiction of the Observant Franciscans.’ This
intra-Franciscan rivalry might help to explain do Porto’s
low profile in the order’s chronicles. All the same, his leg-
acy became inextricably linked to his missionary exploits
in Shashti. According to the chronicler Diogo do Couto
(1542-1616), do Porto “penetrated all the secrets of that

Island . . . which were many.”®!
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Figure 9 Map of churches founded by Friar Anténio do Porto in the
greater Mumbai area from 1547 through 1585 (created by author).

The Rock-Cut Cave
Although Shashti Island held great significance for both

Hindu and Buddhist religions, the Portuguese missionaries
expressed particular interest in its premodern Christian tra-
ditions.% The Piedosos drew inspiration from the so-called
martyrs of Thane, four Franciscan missionaries killed in
1321 (according to later chronicles), as well as from sur-
viving information about pre-Portuguese churches and
communities that once existed in the region (Figure 10).5
These traditions built upon the myth of Prester John, the
legendary ruler of a powerful Christian kingdom some-
where in Asia.

"The Franciscans took this “evidence” of a pre-Portuguese
Christian presence as further justification for their cam-
paign of religious conversion in India. By the mid-fifteenth
century, the notion of a “just war” as proposed in the Suzmma
theologica of Saint Thomas Aquinas had met with widespread
approval throughout European Christendom, encouraging
Christian rulers to wage war to recover “lost ground” for
Christianity. This same rationale drove the Spanish and
Portuguese monarchs in the so-called reconquista of the
Iberian Peninsula and their subsequent conquests in North
Africa.

Later Portuguese missionaries and administrators also
seized upon the notion of a “just war” to rationalize their



Figure 10 \Wood panel, probably depicting Saint Thomas Tolentino,
from the Jesuit church of the Mother of God in Thane, ca. 1580-95,
now in the Chhatrapati Shivaji Maharaj Vastu Sangrahalaya, Mumbai
(photo by Gritli von Mitterwallner, 1960; © AlK-Archiv, Schenkung Gritli
von Mitterwallner, Bildarchiv, Accession CI.10.2.34.5; courtesy of the
AlK-Archiv).

belligerent acts in India. In this context, the identification
of a pre-Portuguese Christian element—a statue, cross, or
relic—acquired tremendous importance as both inspira-
tion and justification for their missionary enterprise. The
myth of Saint Thomas and the alleged “discovery” of the
saint’s burial site in Mylapore (part of present-day Chennai)
exemplified such efforts, assuming immense significance
and prestige for the Portuguese crown and its evangelical
ambitions.5*

Soon after landing at Vasai, do Porto and his companion,
Jodo de Goa (fl. 1540-70), ventured further into Shashti
Island. They first headed for Mandapeshwar, one of the
island’s most important Hindu sites, where they managed
to reconsecrate its rock-cut cave temple as a church dedi-
cated to Our Lady of Sorrows. They then traveled to the
cave complex at Kanheri, where they reconsecrated the

largest rock-cut cave temple as a chapel dedicated to Saint
Michael.®’ The chapel at Kanheri was soon abandoned,
however, leaving no Christian traces; thus, the Shaivite tem-
ple at Mandapeshwar remains the only Hindu rock-cut cave
temple that continued to function regularly as a Christian
church.

"Today the visitor to Mandapeshwar encounters two sur-
viving caves hewn out of the rock (Figure 11). The smaller
cave, a single chamber with a carved bench, was possibly the
“original Buddhist excavation.” According to K. V. Soundra
Rajan, the larger cave “is to be considered among the
large-sized mandapa type of architecture of the Chalukyan
period” (dating between the sixth and twelfth centuries).®
Beginning in 1548, the Franciscans made changes to this
larger cave, which included several chambers, structural col-
umns, and extensive ornamentation, transforming it into
a Christian church. This work, which included sealing off
chambers and plastering over walls, both disguised and pre-
served a group of preexisting sculptures. In the main cham-
ber, the Franciscan interventions caused extensive damage
to the columns and pilasters. While the Franciscans used
plaster to hide a few of the original details from view, they
decided to chisel off most of the applied sculpture in that
chamber to replace it with flat surfaces, ornamented only
by plain columns and pilasters.

The Franciscans also covered the mouth of the cave
with a lime-plastered masonry wall into which they built
an arched entrance flanked by two rectangular windows.
Facing east, this became the front facade of the church.
They carved two more windows out of the existing rock to
illuminate the northern and southern chambers alongside
the main hall or nave. In the western wall of the south-
ern chamber, the missionaries plastered over an impressive
sculptured panel depicting “a tandava Shiva . . . flanked by
the usual paraphernalia of attendant figures,” including a
central female identified as “apparently . . . Parvati.”®’ In
this same space, the Franciscans installed a chancel with
its main altar dedicated to Our Lady of Sorrows, as well as
probably two other altars. The axis of the nave and chan-
cel stood perpendicular to the main entrance, an extremely
rare arrangement in medieval and early modern Portuguese
churches (with the exception of nuns’ convents).5®

Anquetil-Duperron’s 1760 description of the church
and accompanying floor plan indicate that most of the
Portuguese interventions in the cave were still in place
two decades after the Maratha conquest of Shashti Island.
Some of the Hindu sculpture groups had been liberated
from their plaster coatings. The main altar and the masonry
wall across the mouth of the cave were still in place, and
the chancel’s Christian frescoes remained visible in 1803.%
According to John Wilson, writing five decades later, the
cave had been “[re]appropriated by the Roman Catholic
inhabitants of Salsette [Shashd Island] as a church.””°
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Figure 11 Shaivite cave temple, eighth century
CE, reconsecrated as the church of Our Lady of
Sorrows, Mandapeshwar, Mumbai, reconsecra-
tion work 1548-55, plan showing rock carved
by the Portuguese during the sixteenth century
(dotted lines) and walls built from the sixteenth
through the nineteenth centuries (in darker gray)
(author's drawing from a survey conducted in
2006).

Figure 12 Shaivite cave temple, eighth century
CE, reconsecrated as the church of Our Lady
of Sorrows, Mandapeshwar, Mumbai, reconse-
cration work 1548-55, view of eastern facade
and surrounding area (photo by Gritli von
Mitterwallner, 1960; © AlK-Archiv, Schenkung
Gritli von Mitterwallner, Bildarchiv, Accession
IVO.3.13.1.2; courtesy of the AIK-Archiv).

According to these sources, supplemented by a plan
dating to 1880, the demolition of the sixteenth-century
masonry wall built by the Portuguese occurred only in the
late 1960s.”! Other interventions took place during this
second phase of Christian religious use in the nineteenth
century. These included the enclosure of the old chancel
area, which served to remove the main Hindu sculptures
from view yet again. They also entailed the building of a
new altar, which remained in place until the 1960s. Further
interventions in the arched entrance and the facade win-
dows appear to have taken place during the first half of the
twentieth century (Figure 12).

In the 1960s and early 1970s, Gritli von Mitterwallner
(1925-2008) and Walter Spink (1928-2019) undertook
a series of extensive campaigns to photograph the cave
(Figure 13; see Figures 8 and 12). Both scholars docu-
mented conditions before and immediately after the cave’s
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reappropriation by the Hindu community.’? At present, the
only surviving trace of Christian usage found there is a cross

chiseled into the rock surface among the winged divinities
in the southern chamber.

The sixteenth-century appropriation and refitting of
these Hindu rock-cut cave temples brought together both
Franciscan and Iberian traditions. The reconsecration of
mosques as churches was widespread in the Iberian Peninsula
during the late medieval period, as the Christian kingdoms
slowly took over territories formerly occupied by Umayyad
rulers. This form of adaptive reuse, as one might describe
it today, was practiced by both members of the Franciscan
order and the secular clergy, and whether it represented
solely utilitarian pragmatism or it demonstrated some kind
of Christian admiration for Islamic structures remains a mat-
ter of debate.”’ Later, the Jesuits also converted mosques
into churches, with examples in Hormuz in Iran as well as



Figure 13 Shaivite cave temple, eighth century CE, reconsecrated as

the church of Our Lady of Sorrows, Mandapeshwar, Mumbai, recon-
secration work 1548-55, view of eastern facade (photo by Gritli von
Mitterwallner, 1970; © AIK-Archiv, Schenkung Gritli von Mitterwallner,
Bildarchiv, Accession 1VO.3.13.6.4; courtesy of the AIK-Archiv).

Daman and possibly Old Goa in India.”* These projects
aimed at the appropriation of sacred ground may have served
as a pragmatic first step in the effort to disenfranchise and
suppress the presence of preexisting religions.

Although it appears that Franciscan proselytizing activ-
ity in Mandapeshwar generated little opposition, the means
by which the Franciscans appropriated Hindu sacred sites
remains unclear. Do Porto himself acknowledged the “pru-
dence and good dissimulation with the people of land” of
the captain of Fort Vasai, Jerénimo de Noronha, whose
conduct was crucial in avoiding the “uproar” that followed
when Hindu temples were “pulled down” in Tiswadi Island
(Goa) in the 1540s.”° Following upon (but also independent
of) do Porto’s efforts to expel the Hindu religious commu-
nity and to convert local inhabitants, the Mandapeshwar
mission grew to become the epicenter of Franciscan activity
in the Northern Province.

Dwellings occupied by Christian converts spread
along the hillside a few meters to the south of the college.
According to do Porto, the people he converted were often
“despised by the other Hindus,” and thus required economic
support. As he argued, they should live in all-Christian set-
tlements, like the one at Mandapeshwar, with collective
activities centering on religious practices.”® The Jesuits
probably followed this example when they developed their
own mission of Santissima Trindade in the central area of
Shashti Island (founded in 1557).77

From the 1550s onward, more laws promoting Christian
conversion and the subordination of other religions made
proselytizing in the Estado da India increasingly militant,
culminating in the establishment of the Inquisition at Goa
in 1560. A particularly harsh measure, known as the Lei
dos Orfios in Portuguese documents, targeted the orphans
of non-Christian families, requiring their conversion after
a brief period of catechism.”® According to a stringent
interpretation of the Lei dos Orfios, any fatherless child
(up to fourteen years old for boys, and up to twelve for
girls) could be judged an orphan.”” As a result, the converts’
settlement near Mandapeshwar included a large number
of widows whose “orphans” attended the Franciscan cate-
chism and college. Several Portuguese documents mention
these widows as the main beneficiaries of Franciscan char-
ity, depending on the mission’s communal way of life even
for the distribution of rice.*® Overlooking this settlement,
and dominating the surrounding landscape, stood the Sacro
Monte.

The Sacro Monte

As seen today, Mandapeshwar’s Sacro Monte consists of two
levels, raised up on a small conical earthen mound. The
first level is a stone-and-rubble cylindrical structure about
12.6 meters in diameter, with seven small circular com-
partments or grottoes carved into its volume (Figure 14;
see Figure 4). These grottoes, arranged along the western
side of the structure, feature ceilings with hemispherical
domes ornamented with delicate stuccowork of different
designs. Each grotto also features a niche on the curved wall
opposite the entrance.®! Steps spiraling up the southeastern
side of the structure bring the visitor to the upper level.
Here, on a circular platform protected by small rectangular
parapets, stands a round hermitage, about 6.36 meters in
diameter, crowned by a spherical dome. Inside, the dome’s
masonry appears intentionally rugged and uneven, as if to
suggest a grotto-like appearance. On the exterior, the dome
is crowned by a lantern faced with six arched openings that
may have served as a belfry. Six plain spheres mounted on
the surrounding pilasters encircle a statue of Christ with
arms extended (Figure 15). According to an 1847 sketch by
Charles Masson, a small cupola once crowned the lantern,
which probably explains the small size of the spheres. In the
late 1920s, the cupola was replaced by the statue of Christ.®
A doorway facing east provides the only entrance to the
hermitage. Inside stands a statue of Our Lady of Fatima,
also a twentieth-century addition.

Other twentieth-century interventions at the structure
can be identified by the use of brick construction, including
the guardrail protecting the steps that join the two levels.®’
The earthen mound at the base of the Sacro Monte has
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Figure 14 Sacro Monte, Mandapeshwar, Mumbai, ca. 1590-1630,
plans, section, and elevation (author’s drawings from a survey con-
ducted in 2006).
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Figure 15 Sacro Monte, Mandapeshwar, Mumbai, ca. 1590-1630,
detail of belfry (author’s photo).

been considerably altered, with the addition of walls, steps,
a water tank, and lighting fixtures. A grotto-like structure
standing on the mound’s eastern side now houses another
statue of Our Lady of Fatima.®*

Despite the graceful architecture and spectacular setting
of the Sacro Monte, we have frustratingly little informa-
tion regarding the history of the structure. At present we
have only two references from the Portuguese period. In
the 1690s the Italian traveler Gemelli Careri (1651-1725)
visited the area and reported that “upon the hill neighbor-
ing the aforementioned College [of Mandapeshwar] one
can see another hermitage with a chapel,” but he failed to
provide any further details.?’ The second reference appears
in an anonymous compilation dating from 1737 recording
the churches abandoned by the Franciscans as a result of
the Maratha conquest of Shashti Island, copied from an ear-
lier compilation dating to 1642. It mentions only that there
is a “hermitage dedicated to the Holy Spirit” close to the
Franciscan Royal College in Mandapeshwar.%



In addition, there is a well-known visual representa-
tion of the Sacro Monte dating from 1634-35 (Figure 16).
Although relatively rudimentary, it clearly depicts the Sacro
Monte as a circular domed structure, painted white, with
a portal flanked by two windows, raised upon a plinth or

flight of steps. It appears to be supported by two semicircu-
lar flying buttresses resting on pedestals. The drawing does
not depict the larger stone-and-rubble cylindrical structure
below with its grottoes.®

The small spheres crowning the pilasters of the belfry
are among the few ornamental elements that enable us
to date the building, assuming that these date from the
same time as the hermitage. Evidence suggests this kind
of feature was first introduced by the Jesuits in ecclesias-
tical architecture at Old Goa during the 1560s.%% In the
Northern Province, I believe it was first used at Fort Vasai
for the design of the Jesuit church of the Holy Name of
Jesus, built between 1560 and 1575.%° Given that the visual
representation of the Sacro Monte dates from 1634-35, 1
argue that the construction of the Sacro Monte occurred
between approximately 1570 and 1634.

The shrine, complete with its hermitage and grottoes,
is disarmingly simple and elegant. Originally the structure
must have been a conspicuous landmark on Shashti Island,
with its brilliant whitewashed walls standing high above
the vegetation and visible to vessels sailing along the coast.
From such a vantage point, the belfry could have provided
a useful alarm in case of attack, especially in response to
the frequent raids of the so-called Malabar corsairs along
the western coast of India during the sixteenth century.
While the design of the circular hermitage at the upper
level represents a familiar type in early modern European
architecture, the lower level, with its seven grottoes, is
much more unusual. According to Gomes, it might even

Figure 16 Depiction of the Sacro Monte,
Mandapeshwar, Mumbai, ca. 1590-1630, detail
from a view of Shashti Island attributed to
Pedro Resende, 1634-35 (Anténio Bocarro and
Pedro Resende, Livro das plantas de todas as
fortalezas, cidades e povoacoens do Estado

da India Oriental [1634-35], fols. 177r-v, cod.
CXV/2-1, no. 23, Planta da Fortaleza de Tan4,
Biblioteca Publica e Arquivo Distrital de Evora).

be considered “unique in the panorama of Christian
architecture.””’

The phenomenon of the Sacro Monte first arose at
the end of the fifteenth century in Northern Italy, thanks
to the work of the Franciscans. The complexes known as
Sacri Monti may be described as both architectural and
landscape interventions established in elevated locations
outside urban centers, conceived as a means of offering the
Christian faithful a virtual pilgrimage experience.”! These
sacralized landscapes usually included chapels, stations,
or compartments placed along an ascending path, where
either sculptural or painted representations narrated vari-
ous scriptural passages. Most Sacri Monti, both in Italy and
elsewhere, represented scenes from the Passion of Christ,
typically divided into fourteen stations corresponding to the
stations of the cross along the Via Dolorosa of Jerusalem.
For this reason, some Sacri Monti were also identified with
the hill of Calvary. However, with the surge of Marian devo-
tion that took place across Catholic Europe in the sixteenth
century, a number of Sacri Monti were dedicated to the
Virgin.”? Popular devotional themes included the Fifteen
Mysteries of the Rosary, the Seven Sorrows, and the Seven
Joys of Mary.

During the Counter-Reformation, the construction of
Sacri Monti with both Christological and Marian themes
spread beyond Italy to other countries. In Portugal, devo-
tions to the Virgin’s Seven Sorrows gained popularity
during the sixteenth century, as did devotions connected
with the Mysteries of the Rosary. Of the hundreds of
churches and chapels dedicated to Our Lady of Sorrows
built in early modern Portugal, several may have been asso-
ciated with Sacri Mont. At present, we can identify only a
few surviving examples of Marian Sacri Monti with cer-
tainty, including Our Lady of Montalto, near Arganil; Our
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Lady of Abadia, near Amares; and Our Lady of the Castle,
near Mangualde.” On the other hand, Christological Sacri
Monti, or Santudrios, as they are commonly known in
Portuguese, are far more numerous.

The seven guaritas, or small hermitages, of the Franciscan
convent of Our Lady of Arrdbida, near Setdbal, are among
the earliest of these Portuguese Sacri Monti, albeit unfin-
ished. The late seventeenth-century hermitage in the
Carmelite convent of Bugaco emerged from an earlier Via
Crucis. Bom Jesus do Monte, a baroque sanctuary placed at
the top of a dramatic monumental staircase in Braga, was
the most elaborate Sacro Monte built in Portugal.

Outside Portugal, one notable late eighteenth-century
Christological Sacro Monte was built in Brazil, with six
stations lining the path toward the church of Bom Jesus
de Matosinhos, in Congonhas (Minas Gerais). But in the
eastern Portuguese Empire, despite the central role of pro-
cessions, plays, and reenactments of the Passion of Christ,
and despite the strong Marian devotion among the mis-
sionaries in the Estado da India, no other Sacro Monte has
been identified.”*

On the other hand, many small buildings in medieval
and early modern Portugal, including chapels and hermit-
ages, featured centralized plans, which became more pop-
ular from the 1520s onward. The vast majority of centrally
planned churches across western Europe were dedicated
to the Virgin Mary.”” The Portuguese also constructed
circular-plan chapels in and around Old Goa in the first
half of the sixteenth century. Most of these structures were
later transformed into axial spaces with the construction of
additional volumes.”

Three circular-plan hermitages, two in Goa and one in
Portugal, have features in common with the hermitage at
Mandapeshwar. The hermitage of Sio Jerénimo, built on
the property of the Jesuit novitiate of Our Lady of Grace on
Chorio Island, Goa, probably dates to the second half of the
sixteenth century. Possibly modeled on Donato Bramante’s
Tempietto in Rome (1502), it remains relatively unchanged,
and its design may recall that of earlier centralized chapels
in Portugal, including the Chapel of Sio Gregério in Tomar
(ca. 1500-1525) and the Chapel of Santo Amaro in Lisbon
(1549).”7 The circular plan of Sio Jerénimo is crowned by a
dome with a hexagonal solid lantern. Massive piers support
a porch around the perimeter, and a continuous stone bench
runs around the whole structure.”® A few kilometers east,
on the island of Divar, there is another chapel with a cen-
tralized plan dedicated to Our Lady of Candeléria.”” The
present design of this building probably resulted from an
intervention in the 1630s, following the reconstruction of a
preexisting hermitage dedicated to Our Lady of Sorrows.!"
The building features pilasters and sphere-bearing pinna-
cles not unlike those seen at the Mandapeshwar hermitage.
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The third example is in Barroca d’Alva, near Alcochete,
not far from Lisbon. This hermitage, dedicated to Saint
Anthony, is also a circular-plan structure, enclosed by
a remarkable set of parapet walls, the lower wall on the
outside, the higher wall on the inside, with a circular path
between them. Vestiges of a crowning element, possibly a
belfry, survive at the top of the dome.!”! The shape and
scale of the chapel at Barroca d’Alva, as well as its con-
spicuous parapets, closely resemble the form of the Sacro
Monte at Mandapeshwar. Yet no other early modern Sacri
Monti appear to have included grottoes as devotional sta-
tions. What motivated the Franciscans to adopt the grotto
design at Mandapeshwar?

The Grottoes

I argue that the grottoes at the Sacro Monte in
Mandapeshwar were a response not only to the ascetic
practices of the reformed branch of the Franciscan order in
the Iberian Peninsula—as were the grottoes of Our Lady of
Arrébida—but also to the rock-cut cave temples of Shashti
Island and other ancient sites in India. If the Sacro Monte’s
hermitage was dedicated to the Holy Spirit, as reported
in the list of 1642, this brings us back to the millenarian
ideas of the theologian Joachim del Fiore (ca. 1135-1202),
whose mystical theory of the age of the Holy Spirit gained
a strong foothold first in Portugal during the fifteenth cen-
tury and then later overseas throughout Portuguese posses-
sions.!%? In the eastern Portuguese Empire, during the last
quarter of the sixteenth century, the consecration of some
churches to the Holy Spirit apparently signaled a new wave
of devotion. However, nothing suggests the development of
a full-fledged cult, as in the Azores.'” When Gomes first
identified the Sacro Monte in Mandapeshwar, he argued
for its Marian dedication, pointing to the strong devo-
tion to the Virgin among the Franciscan Piedosos, further
demonstrated by the seven grottoes of the hermitage and
its circular plan.!®* A path devoted to the Seven Sorrows
of Mary might well culminate at a hermitage dedicated to
the Holy Spirit, sheltering a depiction of the Holy Spirit
presiding over the coronation of the Virgin. Both sixteenth-
and seventeenth-century Portuguese iconography made
use of such depictions. Also, the invocation of the Holy
Spirit might explain the absence of the Sacro Monte from
the voluminous eighteenth-century Portuguese compila-
tion describing the sanctuaries devoted to the Virgin, the
Santudrio Mariano.'”

In the context of early modern church building in the
Portuguese Empire, chapels or hermitages often memo-
rialized the names of the patrons who sponsored them.
It is tempting to attribute Mandapeshwar’s Sacro Monte
to Jerénimo do Espirito Santo (d. 1599), custodian and



first general commissary of the Franciscan Province of
St. Thomas in India. Friar Espirito Santo, from Arrabida
near Lisbon, studied in the Franciscan college at Coimbra

and assumed responsibility for reforming the troubled
Province of St. Thomas, as well as providing new stat-
utes both for the main Franciscan branch and for several
reformed houses created since 1569.1% He spent several
months in Sri Lanka, and he was credited with the founda-
tion of twelve religious buildings, including the Chapel of
the Holy Spirit in Negumbo.!”

At the time Espirito Santo set sail for India, the first
three guaritas at the convent of Nossa Senhora da Arrabida,
the motherhouse of the Arrdbida Province of the reformed
Franciscans in Portugal, had probably reached comple-
tion. These guaritas are small, centrally planned hermitages
or stations following the western wall over hilly terrain
(Figure 17). Following the construction of the first three
hermitages in the 1580s, the other four were completed in
the 1630s as part of a Christological program for the whole
group.'”® While two of the seven hermitages were fitted with
interior elements, the others remained empty or “unfin-
ished.”!”” The hermitages feature circular, square, or octag-
onal plans and are all roofed by domes of different designs,
some with solid lanterns. Most of the hermitages stand on
sizable platforms that project above the sloping hillside.

The complex at Arrdbida also features a set of “grot-
toes,” which form part of the “old” conventual building at
the first Marian shrine on the site, the thirteenth-century
Memory Hermitage. The first Franciscans who arrived in
1539 created five cells and a refectory, in part hewn out of
the rocky slope and in part enclosed by masonry walls.!!
The building provided isolated places for prayer and con-
templation in remote and mystical surroundings. As they
did at Arrdbida, the Franciscans probably used the smaller

Figure 17 Hermitages, or guaritas, of the
convent of Nossa Senhora da Arrébida, Setubal,
Portugal, 1580s-1630s (Duca696, 2011,
Wikimedia Commons).

caves at Mandapeshwar as cells during the early days of
their missionary activity.

If Jerénimo do Espirito Santo commissioned the design
for the Sacro Monte at Mandapeshwar, it is likely that the
grottoes and guaritas of Arrabida offered him important
sources of inspiration. By recalling the convent of Nossa
Senhora da Arrédbida, the grottoes reinforced Espirito
Santo’s reforming ambitions for Franciscan missionaries in
India. On the other hand, the vaulted circular-plan grot-
toes of the Sacro Monte recall the design of two of seven
of the circular-plan guaritas at Arrabida. One might even
speculate that Friar Jerénimo do Espirito Santo intended
the Sacro Monte to evoke the memory of Friar Anténio do
Porto himself. The Franciscans who reoccupied the site in
the twentieth century believed that “Friar Anténio do Porto
lay buried in this hill,” while an earlier oral tradition iden-
tified the structure as belonging to a Franciscan and desig-
nated it “Sir Padri’s Bungalow.”!!! In any case, it is clear that
the topos of the cave appealed both to the Piedosos and to
the Arrabidos, following the sixteenth-century Franciscan
reforms related to the Iberian Peninsula.'!?

It is also important to consider the significance of
Shashti’s rock-cut cave temples, and in particular the
Shaivite cave at Mandapeshwar, as possible models for
the grottoes of the Sacro Monte. This argument takes
into account the pragmatic strategy of accommodation
employed by many Portuguese missionaries in India to
achieve their conversion goals, as well as a certain admira-
tion expressed by some missionaries—along with a num-
ber of contemporary Portuguese and Italian authors—for
Hindu architecture.

While Jesuit missionaries such as Alessandro Valignano
(1539-1606), Matteo Ricci (1552-1610), and Roberto
de Nobili (1577-1656) perfected this accommodation
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approach, earlier Franciscan and Dominican missionar-
ies, in both Goa and the Northern Province, had used the
same tactic. Angela Xavier highlights this strategy as key
to the success of Piedosos such as Juan de Albuquerque
and Vicente Lagos (fl. 1538-50) in influencing recent con-
verts to accept and adopt devotional practices toward the
Virgin Mary.!" As an example of such accommodation, Ines
Zupanov identifies “turning the Virgin Mary into a manifes-
tation of the [generic female power of a Hindu] goddess.”!'*

By the same token, the Franciscan cave topos suggested
a familiar and revered sacred element for the recently con-
verted Indian population in the region. Both the reconse-
cration of Mandapeshwar’s rock-cut cave temple in 1548
and the later usage of the grottoes in the Sacro Monte offer
examples of Franciscan accommodation in India.

As noted earlier, do Porto chose to establish his first
church in Shashti Island in a cave temple, where he plas-
tered over but did not destroy most of the existing notable
religious sculptures, possibly as a sign of his esteem for the
site and for other prominent local Indian caves at Kanheri
and Elephanta. Several sixteenth-century Portuguese
authors described with great admiration the cities, palaces,
temples, and gardens that they encountered in India.!!’
Partha Mitter has pointed to the appreciation expressed by
educated Portuguese for the cave temples at Kanheri and
Elephanta in a number of the first published descriptions
of those sites.!1¢

Such Portuguese writers often identified parallels
between Hinduism (both as a religion and as a civilization)
and classical antiquity.'!” For example, the Jesuit Giacomo
Fenicio (1558-1632) wrote that Hinduism’s legends were
“greater than those written by Ovid.”!'® As the historian
Manuel de Faria e Souza (1590-1649) affirmed, “The
Malabaric Ovids need not envy the Latin ones.” As Gomes
notes, the Portuguese genealogy of this comparison may be
traced to the famous Coldquios dos simples by the physician
Garcia da Orta (1501-68), who in his discussion of the myth
of the weeping willow observed, “It appears that Ovid was
from these lands, since he composed fables in such a man-
ner.”!"” The Dutch merchant Jan Huyghen van Linschoten
(1563-1611) shared with the Italian traveler Pietro Della
Valle (1586-1652) the notion that Jainism descended from
“Pythagoreanism.”'?% As Sylvie Deswarte-Rosa suggests,
these and other comparisons presented Indian cultures
as having the same origins as the cultures of Western
Christendom, sharing with the latter both a “biblical gene-
alogy” and an “ancient theology (prisca theologia).”'*!

More to the point, various sixteenth- and seventeenth-
century Portuguese and Italian accounts described notable
buildings or ruins in Africa and Asia as classical in their
origins. Some of the authors actively sought the material
traces of a Hellenistic presence. Afonso de Albuquerque
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(1453-1515), one of the early governors of the Estado
da India, received a copy of Nezami Ganjavi’s Eskandar
Nameb (The History of Alexander the Grear) from a resi-
dent of Khawr Fakkin, a port city in the Gulf of Oman.
Delighted with the gift, Albuquerque not only spared the
man’s life—as Portuguese soldiers looted the city and killed
its inhabitants—but also rewarded him with gifts from
Portugal.'?” Writing in the 1530s, the historian Jodo de
Barros (1496-1570) ascribed “Roman” or “Greek” origins
to the “admirable” buildings of Malindi and Mombassa on
the eastern African coast.!”* Domingos Paes (fl. 1510-30)
observed “Roman-like” monumental sculptures during
his visit to Vijayanagara in the 1530s.12* Jodo de Castro
(1500-1548) recorded “Roman” elements and sculptures
“worthy of Apelles” in the Kanheri and Elephanta caves,
a view echoed half a century later by the Venetian mer-
chant Gasparo Balbi (fl. 1570-90).!%* The Jesuit Gongalo
Rodrigues (d. ca. 1561) mentioned a “sumptuous” temple
in the village of Vihar, also in Shashti Island, built after
the “Roman manner,” while his coreligionist Francisco de
Monclaro (1531-95) saw “Roman” and “fluted” shafts in
the columns at Elephanta, although he judged the capitals
not “quite as fine as Corinthian ones.”'?® Diogo do Couto
felt “hurt” by the vandalism of Portuguese soldiers at the
same site, lamenting damage caused to “one of the world’s
admirable things,” while in his account of the Kanheri caves,
he speculated that they were the remains of the palace
built by the Christian king Barlaam.!?” In Sri Lanka, the
Franciscan Francesco Negrao (fl. 1610-25), probably the
first European to write on the ruined city of Anuradhapura,
considered its buildings to be “Roman work.”!?8

Behind this admiring misperception we can identify two
parallel notions of antiquity that early modern Europeans
applied to India, as related to the classical or Hellenistic
world, and as related to the world of Christian antiquity.
These two notions were not mutually exclusive, but rather
overlapped at a time when educated Portuguese circles har-
bored deep admiration for classical culture. The stronger
the signs of classical (Western) culture in India, the stronger
the probability of finding traces of “lost” Christian king-
doms and communities, construed by the Portuguese as
Hellenic successors, or traces of an even earlier mythical
Christian past with its original paradise somewhere in the
Orient.

Therefore, in addition to recalling early Christian
and Franciscan monastic traditions, the rock-cut caves of
Shashti Island could suggest traces of a classical antiquity
associated with the larger-than-life figures of Alexander the
Great, Prester John, and Saint Thomas—or at least that is
how many educated sixteenth-century Portuguese wanted
to see them. For this reason, for the Portuguese these
remains were objects of particular interest and admiration.



"This probably explains why zealous Counter-Reformation
Franciscans like Friar do Porto could both admire the
rock-cut cave temples and reconsecrate them as churches.

It can hardly be considered a coincidence that the
only known Sacro Monte to feature grottoes as part of its
design stands just a few kilometers away from the Kanheri
and Elephanta caves, and just a few meters away from
Mandapeshwar’s rock-cut cave temple. As the architectural
historian James Fergusson (1808-86) observed, “Some
strange feeling of reverence seems to have prevented the
[Franciscan] priests from destroying” the Shaivite sculp-
tures in the Mandapeshwar cave.!?” Gomes invokes this
sense of admiration, noting that the Franciscans “recog-
nized angels when they saw them.”!*” At the Sacro Monte
at Mandapeshwar, the Franciscans also “recognized” the
numinous quality of Shashti’s rock-cut cave temples, and
they appropriated that quality to enhance the mysterium of
Our Lady’s Seven Sorrows and, arguably, to commemorate
Friar Antdénio do Porto’s evangelical labors.
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Abstract

Mumbai’s diverse cultural heritage includes several Christian churches
associated with the city’s East Indian community and with the legacy of
Portuguese colonial rule between 1534 and 1739. This study addresses
one such site in the village of Mandapeshwar, which developed from an
eighth-century CE Hindu rock-cut cave temple and was transformed
during the period of Portuguese rule into a center of Franciscan mission-
ary activity, including through the creation of a Sacro Monte, or series of
pilgrimage stations. By reconstructing the activities of the early Franciscan
missionaries on Shashti Island north of Mumbai, this investigation reveals
that the Sacro Monte functioned as a Marian devotional shrine, with a
crowning chapel dedicated to the Holy Spirit. The Sacro Monte, with its
grottoes, represents a unique synthesis of rock-cut Hindu cave temples and

Christian hermitic traditions.
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